IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CLARENCE DENNIS,)	
)	
Appellant,)	
)	
VS.)	CASE NO. SC09-941
)	LOWER TRIBUNAL NO. 4D07-3945
STATE OF FLORIDA,)	
)	
Appellee.)	
)	

PETITIONER'S INITIAL BRIEF

On Review from the District Court of Appeal Fourth District, State of Florida

CAREY HAUGHWOUT
Public Defender
15th Judicial Circuit
Criminal Justice Building
421 Third Street
West Palm Beach, Florida 33401
(561) 355-7600

BARBARA J. WOLFE Assistant Public Defender Florida Bar No. 0559849 Attorney for Clarence Dennis

appeals@pd15.state.fl.us

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

Petitioner was originally charged by information with attempted first degree murder. (R22). The information was subsequently amended, and the charge was reduced to aggravated battery, contrary to section 784.045(1)(a), Florida Statutes. (R104).

Prior to trial, Petitioner filed a sworn motion to dismiss pursuant to section 776.032, Florida Statutes, alleging that he was immune from prosecution because his action constituted the justifiable use of force. (R63-92).

Petitioner's motion to dismiss alleged that Petitioner and Gloria McBride argued at the home of Richard Morris, and that Gloria McBride, a large woman, struck Petitioner in the head with a beer bottle, and then threatened Petitioner in a menacing fashion with the jagged, broken end of the long-necked bottle. Consequently, Petitioner defended himself, and during the struggle which ensued, Gloria McBride was injured with the same beer bottle which was still in her hand. (R63-79).

Petitioner's motion provided written corroboration of the altercation through the statements of eyewitnesses Joema Washington (R69), and George Daniels, both of whom saw Gloria McBride strike Petitioner in the head with a beer bottle. Further corroboration of the motion consisted of a transcript of Petitioner's bond hearing, in

which Petitioner testified that he was forced to defend himself after Gloria McBride struck him in the head with a beer bottle, causing him to bleed extensively, (R72-79), as well as a sworn police report, which stated that Petitioner sought out Deputy Baker and advised him that Gloria McBride had hit him with a beer bottle, and that he had defended himself. (R8-9, 64-65).

The State filed a Traverse and Demurrer, alleging that the facts of the case were in dispute. (R98-99).

The trial cour denied Petitioner's motion to dismiss without an evidentiary hearing, finding that the disputed facts of the case were a question for the jury to resolve. (T3, 8-10,13, 21, 24-27).

Petitioner proceeded to jury trial, was convicted of the lesser included offense of felony battery, and was sentenced to 60 months in the Department of Corrections. (R108, 146-148).

Petitioner appealed the judgment and sentence, arguing that the trial court erred in denying his motion to dismiss on the issue of statutory immunity from prosecution without conducting an evidentiary hearing.

The Fourth District affirmed Petitioner's conviction and sentence, finding no error in the trial court's decision to deny the motion to dismiss. Citing *Velasquez v*.

State, 9 So.3d 22 (Fla. 4th DCA 2009), the Court held that a motion to dismiss based on statutory immunity is properly denied when there are disputed issues of material fact. *Dennis v. State*, 34 Fla. L. Weekly D537 (Fla. 4th DCA March 11, 2009).

In its order of May 20, 2009, the Fourth District denied Petitioner's motion for rehearing and/or clarification, but certified conflict with the decision of the First District in *Peterson v. State*, 983 So.2d 27 (Fla. 1st DCA 2008).

Petitioner filed Notice to Invoke Discretionary Jurisdiction on May 22, 2009.

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

This Court is asked to resolve a conflict between the Fourth and First Districts regarding what procedure must be followed by the trial court when ruling on a motion for statutory immunity filed under section 776.032, Florida Statutes. Although the issue is moot as to Petitioner's case, the issue is capable of repetition, yet may otherwise evade review, and, therefore, is ripe for this Court's determination.

The Fourth District's opinion, holding that a motion to dismiss pursuant to section 776.032 "is properly denied when there are disputed issues of material fact", eviscerates the statute and renders it meaningless. It was not the intent of the Legislature in promulgating section 776.032 to enact a statute which would be merely superfluous to Florida Rule of Criminal Procedure 3.190(c)(4), but, rather, to enact legislation that would provide immunity from prosecution to the citizens of Florida in cases of justified self defense. Therefore, interpretation of section 776.032 should be construed to give effect to that intention, rather than to render the statute potentially meaningless.

The First District's holding in *Peterson v. State*, 983 So.2d 27 (Fla. 1st DCA 2008), in accordance with holdings of the Colorado Supreme Court, and the Georgia Court of Appeals, properly construes the statute on immunity from prosecution to

require that the trial court determine pretrial whether the defendant has established entitlement to statutory immunity by a preponderance of the evidence, and, if so, to dismiss the criminal charges.

Accordingly, this Court should reverse the holding of the Fourth District in Dennis, and approve the holding of the First District in *Peterson*.

ARGUMENT

THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN DENYING PETITIONER'S MOTION TO DISMISS, WHICH SOUGHT IMMUNITY FROM PROSECUTION, PURSUANT TO SECTION 776.032, FLORIDA STATUTES, WITHOUT CONDUCTING AN EVIDENTIARY HEARING.

A. The Issue

This Court is asked to resolve a conflict between the Fourth and First Districts regarding what procedure must be followed by the trial court when ruling on a motion to dismiss filed under section 776.032, Florida Statutes.

B. The Conflict

The Fourth and First Districts have conflicting opinions as to what this procedure should be.

In the instant case, the Fourth District affirmed the trial court's summary denial of Petitioner's motion to dismiss, which sought immunity from prosecution under section 776.032. The court, citing *Velasquez v. State*, 9 So.3d 22 (Fla. 4th DCA 2009), held that a motion to dismiss based on statutory immunity is properly denied when there are disputed issues of material fact. *Dennis v. State*, 34 Fla. L. Weekly, D537 (Fla. 4th DCA March 11, 2009).

In *Peterson v. State*, 983 So.2d 27 (Fla. 1st DCA 2008), the First District rejected a procedure that would deny a motion simply because factual disputes exist:

We now hold that when immunity under the law is properly raised by the defendant, the trial court must decide the matter by confronting and weighing only factual disputes. The court may not deny a motion simply because factual disputes exist. We reject any suggestion that the procedure established by rule 3.190(c) should control, so as to require denial of a motion whenever a material issue of fact appears. (Emphasis added).

C. Nature of Relief Sought

This appeal seeks reversal of the Fourth District's holding in Dennis, and approval of the First District's holding in Peterson, which is in accordance with decisions of the Colorado Supreme Court and the Georgia Court of Appeals on the issue of statutory immunity.

D. The Issue is Not Moot

The issue appears to be moot for Petitioner, who, unfortunately, was denied an opportunity to prove entitlement for immunity when his pre-trial motion under section 776.032 was denied without an evidentiary hearing. Subsequently, Petitioner was convicted by a jury. This injustice cannot now be redressed, as immunity is more than being granted a defense; rather, immunity is "an entitlement not to stand trial or face the burdens of litigation", and, is "effectively lost if a case is erroneously permitted to

go to trial." *Mitchell v. Forsyth*, 472 U.S. 511, 526 (1985). See also *Scott v. Harris*, 550 U.S. 372 (2007).

Notwithstanding that Petitioner's case is moot, the issue is ripe for this Court's determination, as the issue is capable of repetition, yet may otherwise evade review. *Nebraska Press Association et al v. Stuart*, 427 U.S. 539 (1976); *Sims v. State*, 998 So.2d 494 (Fla. 2008).

This Court's resolution of what procedure must be followed by the trial court when ruling on a motion to dismiss under section 776.032, will ensure that future litigants throughout Florida who may be entitled to statutory immunity, will have the opportunity to pursue this right, as intended by the Legislature.

E. Argument

Under Florida law, a person who is not engaged in unlawful activity and is in a place he or she has the right to be has "no duty to retreat and may stand his or her ground and meet force with force if he or she reasonably believes it is necessary to do so to prevent death or great bodily harm to himself or herself or another or to prevent the commission of a forcible felony." § 776.013(3), Fla. Stat. (2006). In addition, a person who justifiably uses deadly force in self-defense or defense of another enjoys immunity from prosecution:

A person who uses force as permitted in s. 776.012, s. 776.013, or 776.031 is justified in using such force and is immune from criminal prosecution and civil action for the use of such force.... As used in this subsection, the term "criminal prosecution" includes arresting, detaining in custody, and charging or prosecuting the defendant.

§ 776.032(1), Florida Statute (2006).

Petitioner lost the opportunity to prove his entitlement to immunity when the trial court summarily denied his motion to dismiss." (R100).

The Fourth District's opinion, affirming the trial court's ruling and holding that a motion to dismiss under section 776.032 "is properly denied when there are disputed issues of material fact", in essence, determines that the criteria for deciding a motion to dismiss filed under section 776.032, is no different than the criteria for deciding a motion to dismiss filed under Florida Rule of Criminal Procedure 3.190(c)(4). This holding defeats the purpose of the statute, and renders it meaningless, as, almost inevitably, cases involving physical confrontation that give rise to claims of self-defense have disputed issues of material fact. It is for this reason that Florida case law holds that self-defense is not appropriately decided by a rule 3.190(c)(4) motion. *State v. Williams*, 400 So.2d 1326 (Fla. 4th DCA 1981); *State v. Hull*, 933 So.2d 1279 (Fla. 2d DCA 2006); *State v. Milton*, 488 So.2d 878 (Fla. 1st DCA 1986).

By affirming the ruling of the trial court, the Fourth District denies the litigant a procedure by which to implement a claim of statutory immunity under section 776.032. The trial court had the authority and duty to establish a procedure for litigating the right of immunity, since without a procedure the right will have no meaning. This Court now has the same authority and duty. Absent the establishment of a procedure, a person's "fundamental rights are neglected; their vindication postponed." *Hill v. State*, 358 So.2d 190, 204 (Fla. 1st DCA 1978).

In Hill, the First District was faced with the question of what is the appropriate procedure for an insanity acquitee to gain release from commitment. In deciding the procedure (subsequently changed by statute), the Court held:

We must consider whether a district court of appeal has power to authorize and require remedies which implicate the circuit court, the public prosecutor and defender, and agencies of the executive branch. We do not casually assume that power. This court has neither the discretion of a circuit judge nor the rulemaking authority of the Supreme Court. Yet there is a hiatus between the procedures required to resolve these cases properly and those that have thus far been provided by rules and decision of the Supreme Court. In that hiatus, the acquitees fundamental rights are neglected; their vindication is postponed.

Our lack of rulemaking power is no impediment. The Supreme Court has prescribed procedures essential to the rule of law not only by its constitutional rulemaking power, in which function we do not participate, but also by decision, in which we do.... The court's power to fashion remedies in the realm of criminal justice is unquestioned.

Hill, 358 So.2d at 204-05 (citations omitted).

In promulgating section 776.032, the intent of the Legislature was not to enact a statute which would be merely superfluous in function to Florida Rule of Criminal Procedure 3.190(c)(4), but, rather, to enact legislation which would provide immunity from prosecution to the citizens of Florida in cases of justified self defense.

The preamble to the law makes this point explicitly:

[T]he Legislature finds that it is proper for law-abiding people to protect themselves, their families, and others from intruders and attackers without fear of prosecution or civil action for acting in defense of themselves and others....

Ch. 2005-27, at 139, Laws of Fla.

The rules of statutory construction disallow statutory interpretation that would render a statute meaningless:

Questions of statutory interpretation are reviewed de novo. The cardinal rule of statutory construction is that a statute should be construed so as to ascertain and give effect to the intention of the Legislature as expressed in the statute. It is a fundamental rule of construction that statutory language cannot be construed so as to render it potentially meaningless. [S]tatutory enactments are to be interpreted so as to accomplish rather than defeat their purpose.

Reeves v. State, 957 So.2d 625 (Fla. 2007).

Accordingly, section 776.032 must be interpreted "so as to accomplish rather than defeat" its intended purpose. *Reeves, supra*. Moreover, the senate staff analysis reflects that the Legislature contemplated that the trial court would decide the immunity issue pretrial: "Section 4 of the bill provides immunity from criminal prosecution and civil action in cases where it is found by the court that the defendant's actions constituted justifiable use of force." Fla. S. Comm. on Crim. Just., CS for SB 436 (2005) Staff Analysis 7 (Feb. 10, 2005) (emphasis added).

Colorado and Georgia have already tackled this issue. In 1985, the Colorado General Assembly passed a law that provided that "any occupant of a dwelling using physical force, including deadly physical force, in accordance with the provisions of subsection (2) of this section shall be immune from criminal prosecution for the use of such force." § 18-1-704.5(3), C.R.S.

In *People v. Guenther*, 740 So.2d 971 (Colo. 1987), the Colorado Supreme Court first interpreted this statute, and it applied rules of statutory construction similar to Florida's. "Our primary task in construing a statute is to ascertain and give effect to the intent of the General Assembly." *Guenther*, 740 P.2d at 975 (c.o.). "It must be presumed that the legislature has knowledge of the legal import of the words it uses, and that it intends each part of a statute to be given effect." Id. at 976 (c.o.). The

Colorado Supreme Court also consulted legislative history, which, it said, "supports the inference that the General Assembly understood, and obviously intended, that the immunity provision of section 18-1-704.5(3) would protect a home occupant from the burden of defending a criminal prosecution when it was determined that the conditions for statutory immunity were established." *Id.* Accordingly, the Court held as follows:

We therefore hold that where, as here, a defendant is charged with crimes arising out of circumstances colorably within the scope of section 18-1-704.5, subsection (3) of this statute confers authority on a court to conduct a pretrial hearing on whether the statutory conditions for immunity from prosecution have been established and, if so established, to dismiss the criminal charges.

Guenther, 740 P.2d at 976. The Court went on to hold that the burden would be on the defendant to establish by a preponderance of evidence, entitlement to immunity under the statute. *Guenther*, 740 P.2d at 980-81.

In *Boggs v. State*, 581 S.E.2d 772 (Ga. App. 2003), the Georgia Court of Appeals used essentially the same analysis and came to the same conclusion. The Georgia statute provided that "[a] person who uses threats or force in accordance with Code Section 16-3-23 or 16-3-24 shall be immune from criminal prosecution therefor." *Id.* at 723. The Court applied Georgia's rules of statutory interpretation, which, like Colorado's, are similar to Florida's:

When we construe a statute, our goal is to determine its legislative purpose. In this regard, a court must first focus on the statute's text. If the plain language of the statute is susceptible of only one meaning, courts must follow that meaning unless to do so would produce contradiction or absurdity. If the statute is plain and unambiguous, we must give its words their plain and ordinary meaning, except for words which are terms of art or have a particular meaning in a specific context.

Boggs, 581 S.E.2d at 723 (footnote, citations, and quotation marks omitted).

Applying these rules and considering the definition of immunity, the Court held as follows:

Therefore, by the plain meaning of these terms and the other language in the statute, the statute must be construed to bar criminal proceedings against persons who use force under the circumstances set forth in OCGA § 16-3-23 or § 16-3-24. Further, as the statute provides that such person "shall be immune from criminal prosecution," the decision as to whether a person is immune under OCGA § 16-3-24.2 must be determined by the trial court before the trial of that person commences.

Boggs, 581 S.E.2d at 723.

F. CONCLUSION

The intent of the Legislature has been clearly expressed in the language of section 776.032, Florida Statutes, which should be construed so as to give effect to that intent, rather than to render the statute potentially meaningless.

Accordingly, this Court should reverse the decision of the Fourth District in *Dennis v. State*, and approve the decision of the First District in *Peterson v. State*, which, in accordance with decisions of the Supreme Court of Colorado and the Georgia Court of Appeals, construes the statute on immunity from prosecution to require that the trial court conduct a pretrial hearing to determine whether the defendant has established entitlement to immunity by a preponderance of evidence, and, if so, to dismiss the criminal charges.