IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF FLORIDA

CASE NO. SC09-941

CLARENCE DENNIS,

Petitioner,

vs.

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Respondent.

RESPONDENT'S BRIEF ON THE MERITS

BILL MCCOLLUM

Attorney General Tallahassee, Florida

CELIA TERENZIO

Assistant Attorney General Bureau Chief, West Palm Beach Florida Bar No. 656879

MELANIE DALE SURBER

Assistant Attorney General Florida Bar No. 0163295 1515 North Flagler Drive Suite 900 West Palm Beach, Florida 33401 Telephone: (561) 837-5000 Counsel for Respondent

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

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

As a preliminary matter the issue with respect to this case is moot and the case must be dismissed. As for the merits, the lower courts found properly that a Defendant's claim of immunity pursuant to \$776.032 is properly raised and resolved under Fla. Rule Crim. P. 3.190(c)(4). Hence, the trial court properly denied the motion to dismiss as there was a conflict in the material evidence regarding the element of immunity.

ARGUMENT

THE TRIAL COURT PROPERLY DENIED THE MOTION TO DISMISS PURSUANT TO FLA. R. CRIM P. 3.190(c)(4) (RESTATED).

The issue to be decided in this appeal involves how to interpret and consider the substantive right of immunity now codified in <u>Fla. Stat.</u> § 776.032 (2005). In the case *sub judice*, Dennis filed a motion to dismiss his charges based on the claim that he is immune from prosecution. Applying <u>Fla. R. Crim. P.</u> 3.190,(c)(4), the trial court denied the motion because there were material facts at issue. Dennis sought relief in the Fourth

¹ Upon a survey of states that have enacted a "Stand Your Ground Law", thirty two (32) states have codified and/or expanded the Castle Doctrine beyond the home. Ten (10) of those states, including Florida, have provided immunity from criminal prosecution if the defendant has properly acted in self defense. The other nine (9) states are; Alabama (AL ST § 13A-3-23), Colorado (C.R.S.A. § 18-1-704.5), Georgia (Ga. Code Ann. § 16-3-24.2), Kansas (K.S.A. § 21-3219), Kentucky (K.R.S. § 503.085), Oklahoma (21 Okla. St. Ann. § 1289.25), South Carolina (SC ST § 16-11-450), Michigan (MCLA § 780.961), and Idaho (I.C. § 19-202A). The following five (5) states have the identical immunity provisions as Florida; Alabama, Kentucky, South Carolina, Oklahoma, and Kansas. In State v. Bolin, 381 SC 557 (SC 2009), the court determined that the statute was not retroactive, no cases have addressed the procedure to be followed when a defendant claims immunity from prosecution. In Rodgers v. Commonwealth, 285 S.W. 3d 740 (Ken. 2009), Kentucky follows the same procedure to determine immunity as Florida as will be discussed below. Finally, in McCracken v. Kohl, 286 Kan. 1114 (Kan. 2008), the Kansas Supreme Court found that McKracken had proven by a preponderance of the evidence, after an evidentiary hearing, that he was immune from prosecution. As discussed below, Georgia follows the Colorado decision of People v. Guenther, 740 P.2d 971 Alabama and Oklahoma have not yet addressed their (Colo.1987). immunity provisions in case law.

District Court of Appeals arguing that under <u>Peterson v. State</u>, 983 So. 2d 27 (Fla. 1st DCA 2008) a trial court must hold a mini-trial, resolve any conflicts in the evidence and grant or deny a defendant's entitlement to absolute immunity. In upholding the trial court's application of 3.190 (c)(4), the district court rejected Dennis's reliance on <u>Peterson</u> and instead relied on its earlier pronouncement in <u>Velasquez v. State</u>, 34 Fla. L. Weekly D266, --- So.2d ----, 2009 WL 223109 (Fla. 4th DCA Feb. 2, 2009). ², The Court stated:

Clarence Dennis appeals his conviction and sentence for felony battery. He raises two issues on appeal, and we affirm as to both issues. Only one of the issues warrants discussion; that is, whether the trial court erred in denying Dennis's motion to dismiss on his claim of statutory immunity brought under section 776.032, Florida Statutes, because there were disputed issues of material fact. We find no error in the trial court's decision to deny the motion to dismiss. As we recognized in Velasquez v. State, 34 Fla. L. Weekly D266, --- So.2d ----, 2009 WL 223109 (Fla. 4th DCA Feb. 2, 2009), a motion to dismiss based on statutory immunity is properly denied when there are disputed issues of material fact. Accordingly, we affirm.

Dennis, supra.

In $\underline{\text{Velasquez}}$, the district court explained its rejection of Peterson as follows:

The statute then provides for law enforcement to make an initial determination of whether there was probable cause that the force used was unlawful. § 776.032(2), Fla. Stat. This allows law enforcement officers to determine a suspect's immunity prior to making an arrest.

^{2 &}lt;u>Velasquez v. State</u> 34 Fla. L. Weekly D266, --- So.2d ----, 2009 WL 223109 (Fla. 4th DCA Feb. 2, 2009), has been followed by <u>McTigue v. State</u>, 2009 WL 2949307 (Fla. 4th DCA Sept. 16, 2009), and <u>Govoni v. State</u>, 34 Fla. L. Weekly D1688 (Fla. 4th DCA 2009).

By defining "criminal prosecution" to include the arrest, detention, charging, or prosecution of the defendant, the statute allows for an immunity determination at any stage of the proceeding. Created to eliminate the need to retreat under specified circumstances, the statute authorized the immunity determination to be made by law enforcement officers, prosecutors, judges, and juries. In enacting the statute, however, the legislature did not restrict the time frame for determining immunity, but rather provided a time continuum stretching across the entire criminal process.

When rule 3.190(c)(4) is used as the vehicle to raise the issue of immunity under section 776.032(2), that rule provides the procedural framework by which the court makes its determination. That rule mandates the denial of a motion to dismiss when as here, the facts are in dispute. Thus, the trial court properly denied the motion.

In <u>Peterson</u>, the First District held that the procedure established by rule 3.190(c) does not control the immunity determination. 983 So.2d at 28-29. Instead, the Peterson court found guidance in <u>People v. Guenther</u>, 740 P.2d 971 (Colo.1987). <u>Id</u>. at 29. There, the Colorado Supreme Court held that a defendant, raising an immunity defense under a similar statute, had the burden of proving the entitlement to immunity by a preponderance of the evidence. To do so, the trial court was authorized to weigh conflicting evidence. Following Guenther, the Peterson court held "that a defendant may raise the question of statutory immunity pretrial and, when such a claim is raised, the trial court must determine whether the defendant has shown by a preponderance of the evidence that the immunity attaches." <u>Id</u>.

We recognize the efficacy of the procedure outlined in Peterson, but disagree that it is within our province to create a process sanctioned neither by statute nor existing rule.

<u>Velasquez</u>, 9 So. 3d at 24. Notably, in <u>Peterson</u>, the First District did not offer any rationale for its rejection of relevant Florida law in favor of its reliance on a case from Colorado,

People v. Guenther, 740 P.2d 971 (Colo. 1987):

We reject any suggestion that the procedure established by rule 3.190(c) should control so as to require denial of a motion whenever a material issue of fact appears.

<u>Peterson</u>, 983 So. 2d at 29-30. The <u>Peterson</u> Court simply embraced the complete rationale of <u>Guenther</u>, holding that a trial court is required to take evidence and resolve factual disputes in order to rule on a motion to dismiss. At this hearing, a defendant need only establish by a preponderance of the evidence his entitlement to the immunity. In opting for this procedure, the district court noted that trial courts routinely hold evidentiary hearings to resolve motions for post conviction relief and motions to suppress, therefore, conducting an evidentiary hearing in this instance would be permissible. <u>Peterson</u>, 983 So. 2d at 29. The Fourth District certified conflict with <u>Peterson</u>. This Court must now resolve the conflict.

As a preliminary matter, petitioner's claim is moot and the instant case must be dismissed. Petitioner recognizes that he has no remedy in this case (IB p. 7). Below, the motion to dismiss was denied and petitioner failed to request a stay of proceedings and/or file a Petition for Writ of Prohibition in the Fourth District Court of appeal. Rather, petitioner chose to proceed to trial and forego the immunity. Petitioner has argued the issue before this Court is capable of repetition yet evading review,

however, the petitioner is mistaken. In a case such as <u>Govoni v. State</u>, --- So.3d ----, 2009 WL 2516939 (Fla. 4th DCA August 19, 2009), wherein the District Court denied the Writ of Prohibition yet certified conflict as it did in the instant case, a petitioner may ask this court to review a denial of a Writ of Prohibition. In <u>Govoni</u>, the defendant has not yet proceeded to trial. Hence, because the issue is not evading review, this case must be dismissed as moot.

As for the merits, respondent urges this Court to adopt the reasoning of Velasquez and find that Florida law does not permit the ill advised procedure outlined in Peterson. As will be explained more fully below, the procedure adopted in Colorado is based on a statute which is substantively different than Florida's. In fact, Colorado's statute, unlike Florida's, is very vague and offers absolutely no guidance to courts regarding the substance of the immunity statute. In contrast, the substance of § 776.032 in conjunction with 3.190 (c)(4), offers a workable and fair determination regarding immunity. This Court must reject the unorthodox and unauthorized action taken by the First District in Peterson, and adopt the rationale of Velasquez.

- F.S. § 776.032, now commonly referred to as the "Stand Your Ground" defense, provides for immunity from prosecution in the following manner:
 - (1) A person who uses force as permitted in s.

776.012, s. 776.013, or s. 776.031 justified in using such force and is immune from criminal prosecution and civil action for the use of such force, unless the person against whom force was used is а enforcement officer, as defined in 943.10(14), who was acting in the performance of his or her official duties and the officer identified himself or herself in accordance with any applicable law or the person using force knew or reasonably should have known that the person was a law enforcement officer. As used in this subsection, the term "criminal prosecution" includes arresting, detaining in custody, and charging or prosecuting the defendant.

- (2) A law enforcement agency may use standard procedures for investigating the use of force as described in subsection (1), but the agency may not arrest the person for using force unless it determines that there is probable cause that the force that was used was unlawful.
- (3) The court shall award reasonable attorney's fees, court costs, compensation for loss of income, and all expenses incurred by the defendant in defense of any civil action brought by a plaintiff if the court finds that the defendant is immune from prosecution as provided in subsection (1).

It is clear that the legislature's intent was to afford citizens not only an affirmative defense but complete immunity from prosecution under the requirements of the "Stand Your Ground Law." It is also clear that the legislature **expressly** maintained the status quo with regards to how law enforcement will investigate whether immunity exists which would then preclude a finding of probable cause that a crime occurred. See Bartlett v. State, 993

So. 2d 157, 161 (Fla. 1st DCA 2008)(explaining that §776.032(2), "is not a substantive change in how the police investigate a case. Before any police officer can sign a criminal complaint, the officer must have probable cause to believe a crime has been committed"). In other words, the state, whether through law enforcement or a prosecutor, possess the same obligations and duties as it would during any criminal investigation and/or prosecution. ³.

Also **explicit** in the statute is that an assessment of whether immunity exists to preclude prosecution may be made at any point in the criminal process. In <u>Velasquez</u>, 9 So.3d at 24, the district court noted that the legislature did not restrict the time frame for determining immunity, and instead provided for a continuum throughout the process. It commences with law enforcement, it remains a concern throughout the prosecutor's charging decisions, and ultimately it may rest with a judge. Because immunity may be assessed at any point in the process, and because the statute only refers to one standard for assessment of immunity, i.e., probable cause, logic dictates that the probable cause standard remains the measuring stick throughout the continuum.⁴ A fortiorari the appropriate vehicle to challenge probable cause would be a motion

³ It has long been the law in Florida that the police must have probable cause to arrest. <u>Shriner v. State</u>, 386 So.2d 525 (Fla. 1980.)

⁴ Consistent with the absence of any time limitation in the statute, motions to dismiss pursuant to 3.190(c)(4) may also be

to dismiss pursuant to 3.190 (c)(4). The rule is specifically designed to scrutinize whether there is probable cause to proceed as the state must demonstrate that the factual theory of prosecution presents a prima facie case. There is no justification to look beyond Florida law in this instance. Respondent asserts that by reaffirming law enforcement's authority to investigate the applicability of the immunity statute pursuant to a probable cause finding, and by allowing for an immunity determination to be made at any step in the criminal process, Peterson's refusal to apply Rule 3.190 is not well taken.

In contrast to Florida law, the Colorado statute neither includes an express recognition of law enforcement's use of the probable cause standard to assess the existence *vel non* of probable

filed at any time.

^{5 3.190 (}c) (4) Time for Moving to Dismiss. Unless the court grants further time, the defendant shall move to dismiss the indictment or information either before or at arraignment. The court in its discretion may permit the defendant to plead and thereafter to file a motion to dismiss at a time to be set by the court. Except for objections based on fundamental grounds, every ground for a motion to dismiss that is not presented by a motion to dismiss within the time hereinabove provided shall be considered waived. However, the court may at any time entertain a motion to dismiss on any of the following grounds:

⁴⁾ There are no material disputed facts and the undisputed facts do not establish a prima facie case of guilt against the defendant.

⁶ If a defendant is alleging that he is immune from prosecution pursuant to F.S. § 776.032, the state cannot establish a prima facie case of guilt unless the state's evidence specifically refutes the claim of immunity.

cause in light of the potential immunity; nor does the Colorado statute provide a time continuum in which to make the immunity assessment. Guenther, supra. Rather Colorado's immunity statute is void of substantive guidance regarding the statutory defense of immunity. Consequently, out of necessity, the Colorado Supreme Court filled in the blanks by relying on other instances where judges must make other pre-trial determinations. The Colorado Court noted:

The immunity created by section 18-1-704.5 is a conditional immunity in the sense that it applies only if certain factual elements are established. Determining whether, in the context of а pending prosecution, a sufficient factual predicate exists for the application of the statutory bar is no different from other forms of adjudication requiring the application of a statutory standard to the facts as found by the court. A court, for example, performs a similar function when it conducts a pretrial hearing to determine whether the statute of limitations bars the prosecution of a charge, 16-5-401, 8A C.R.S. (1986), whether a pending prosecution would violate statutory prohibitions against double jeopardy, §§ 18-1-301 to -304, 8B C.R.S. (1986), or whether the prosecution is barred by reason of an asserted violation of the accused's right to a speedy trial, § 18-1-405, 8B C.R.S. (1986). The adjudicatory role of the court in these situations is no different from the court's adjudicatory role contemplated by section 18-1-704.5(3) in resolving whether a person accused of a crime must be immunized from further prosecution.

Guenther, 740 P.2d at 977(emphasis added).

Respondent asserts that the Colorado Supreme Court's examples of other pre-trial evidentiary hearings further supports the argument that Colorado's procedure is distinguishable and does not

offer the appropriate guidelines herein. The three areas listed in <u>Guenther</u> that are determined by a judge pre-trial include alleged violations of double jeopardy; statute of limitations, and speedy trial. All of those issues are <u>jurisdictional</u> in nature, and therefore do not implicate in any manner whatsoever, the sufficiency of the evidence to support probable cause. And while those examples may be "bars" to prosecution, they are qualitatively different than the immunity "bar" to prosecution as established in Florida's statute. As written, the substantive right to immunity is interrelated with the probable cause finding in the first instance, <u>see</u> § 776.032(2), and therefore a determination of absolute immunity defeats the existence of a prima facie case to proceed. Consequently, 3.190 (c)(4) is the proper legal vehicle to test the sufficiency of the evidence.

A review of the Colorado Rules of Criminal Procedure reveals that there is no rule similar to Fla. R. Crim. P. 3.190.⁷ Colorado rules of procedure clearly give the trial courts discretion regarding the procedures to follow with respect to holding a pretrial hearing. Fla. R. Crim. P. 3.190 does not afford the trial

⁷ Col. R. Crim P. 12 (b)(4) states:

Hearing on Motion. A motion before trial raising defenses or objections shall be determined before the trial unless the court orders that it be deferred for determination at the trial of the general issue except as provided in Rule 41. An issue of fact shall be tried by a jury if a jury trial is required by the Constitution or by statute. All other issues of fact shall be determined by the court with or without a jury or on affidavits or in such other

courts the same discretion as Col. R. Crim P. 12 (b)(4).

In further support of this position, respondent relies on Rodgers v. Commonwealth, 285 S.W. 3d 740 (Ken. 2009). Kentucky's immunity provision is identical to Florida's and states as follows:

Justification and criminal and civil immunity for use of permitted force; exceptions

- (1) A person who uses force as permitted in KRS 503.050, 503.055, 503.070, and 503.080 is justified in using such force and is immune from criminal prosecution and civil action for the use of such force, unless the person against whom the force was used is a peace officer, as defined in KRS 446.010, who was acting in the performance of his or her official duties and the officer identified himself or herself in accordance with any applicable law, or the person using force knew or reasonably should have known that the person was a peace officer. As used in this subsection, the term "criminal prosecution" includes arresting, detaining in custody, and charging or prosecuting the defendant.
- standard procedures for investigating the use of force as described in subsection (1) of this section, but the agency may not arrest the person for using force unless it determines that there is probable cause that the force that was used was unlawful.
- (3) The court shall award reasonable attorney's fees, court costs, compensation for loss of income, and all expenses incurred by the defendant in defense of any civil action brought by a plaintiff, if the court finds that the defendant is immune from prosecution as provided in subsection (1) of this section.
- K.R.S. § 503.085.(emphasis added). Rodgers was charged with

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